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PREFACE.

In “Northern Afghanistan” I gave a description
of Afghan Turkistan from Kabul on the east to
Herat on the west. I now carry on the descrip-
tion farther west into Persia, and describe each
district of Khurasan and Sistan in detail, from
the Kurd and Turkoman country along the Russian
frontier on the north, to the confines of Baluchistan
on the Indian frontier to the south.

A full account is given of the time I spent
amongst the Goklan and Yamut Turkomans,
hitherto comparatively unknown; their life and
character is described, and an account is given of
my trip to the source of the river Gurgan, never
before visited by any European traveller.

An account is also given of the Afghan troops
and soldiers as I saw them at Kandahar, Farah,
and Herat; of the Persian troops and officials;
and of the various tribes on the Afghan and
Persian frontiers. The state of trade with Persia
through Sistan and Bandar Abbas is described,
and the question of the disappearance of heredi-
tary chiefs and of the power of the priesthood
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in Persia is entered into; as well as that of the
difference in the number of native followers in
India and in Russia; the different modes of life
in India and in Central Asia; the contrast between
the employment of natives in the army and in
the civil administration of the country under the
British Government in India and the Russian
Government in Central Asia, and various other
subjects connected with India.

The proposed junction of the Indian and Russian
railways is also discussed.

The shrine of Imam Raza and the history and
antiquities of Mashhad, Nishapur, and other places,
the tomb of Umar Khaiyam, and the turquoise
mines at Mddan are described; and a general
account is given of the people I saw and the life
I led during the three years I held charge of the
oftice of agent to the Governor-General of India
and H.B.M.'s Consul-General at Mashhad, in the
hope that it may prove of use to my brother
officers in the Indian army who may think of
visiting Khurasan and Sistan, or who may take
an interest in Central Asia.

CHAS. E. YATE.

25th September 1900.
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KHURASAN AND SISTAN.

CHAPTER L

KANDAHAR, FARAH, AND HERAT.

O~ the 5th April 1893 I left Chaman, the British
frontier station in Baluchistan, as her Majesty’s Com-
missioner for the settlement of certain disputes with
Russia regarding the Kushk river canals on the Afghan
frontier to the north of Herat, and with orders, after
settling those disputes, to proceed on to Mashhad in Persia
and take up the post of agent to the Governor-General
of India and H.B.M.'s Consul-General for Khurasan and
Sistan.

Riding out accompanied by the officers of the 40th
Pathan Regiment, then quartered at Chaman, and escorted
by a troop of the 6th Bombay Cavalry, we were met at
the frontier by Abdul Hamid Khan, a Tajik from Logar,
the Amir’s agent deputed to escort me to Kandahar, with
thirty Afghan cavalry and twenty Khawinin or irregular
sowars. Saying good-bye to our British comrades, the
Afghans formed up and took charge, and for the fourth
time in my life I found myself launched on a journey
through Afghanistan. We were soon on the best of
terms with our Afghan guardians, and all who have ever

A
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travelled under an Afghan cavalry escort will join me in
testifying what excellent fellows Afghan soldiers are when
taken the right way. A cheerier, heartier, and more
willing man than the Afghan sowar in his own country
is hard to find.

The road to Kandahar is well known. On arrival at
Kandahar I was met by Mirza Taki Khan, the British agent,
and the Afghan colonel of artillery, a son of Wali Ahmad
Khan, the Amir’s former representative and envoy with
the Government of India. Escorted by them we entered
the city by the Bar Durani gate, and wended our way
to the main entrance of the citadel. Crossing the open
space inside that, we rode up to the residence of the
Naib-ul-Hukumat, as the governor is styled, in a court-
yard on the western side. A guard of honour of the
3rd Herat Regiment was drawn up opposite the reception-
room under the command of a subadar who wore a pith
sun-helmet, of which apparently he was very proud,
while his men were possessed of every sort of head-
covering, including foxskin hats, sheepskin hats, and hats
of various other kinds of skins.

The governor, Abdulla Khan Timuri, appeared re-
splendent in a bright red coat, one mass of gold em-
broidery; and shortly afterwards “Brigade,” as the Afghan
general commanding was locally called, Muhammad S4dik
Khan, appeared, accompanied by the “kurnél” o1 com-
mandant of the 1st Herat Regiment; both similarly
gorgeously got up in gold. About a dozen “ kapitins”
were also brought in and introduced and shook hands,
but were then marched out again.

On returning I rode back down the bazar to the
“ Chaharsd,” the large central dome on which the main
roads of the city converge, and then out by the Kabul
gate. The city seemed more crowded than even when
we were in occupation of it during the war of 1879-80,
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and trade seemed brisk; the Juma Musjid had been
newly repaired, and the whole city looked in a more
flourishing condition than I had ever seen it before.

The Bagh-i-Manzil, which had been assigned to me as
my residence during my stay, was a new garden-honse
constructed by order of the Amir just behind the village
of Deh Khojah, the scene of our sortie during the siege
of 1880. The house itself was a large square build-
ing. The lower storey consisted of vaulted kitchens and
servants’ rooms. Mounting the stairs, we found ourselves
in a huge hall, in the shape of a Maltese cross, with a
small room at each corner, and another room above each
of those again. The garden was full of apricot, peach,
pomegranate, and quince trees, giving a green and plea-
sant prospect, while a cuckoo was calling loudly, and
there were lots of small birds about, giving life to the
place. In the hall I found breakfast ready spread.
There was enough to feed a regiment, and all my men
had a grand feast.

Two “kapitins” were put on duty with me, one of
artillery and one of an Herat regiment, both good fellows,
and I spent the evening walking round the garden and
chatting with them.

One thing that particularly struck me during my stay
was the curious ignorance of all the Afghan officials I
came across of our ways and customs across the
frontier. None of them had ever been permitted to
cross the border or to mix with our people in any
way, and their ideas of British rule were crude in the
extreme. The official is apparently the only class that
is tied down in this respect. The lower classes, fruit-
sellers and traders generally, visit India in large num-
bers every year, and some even extend their travels
beyond it.

I remember one man in Baluchistan accosting me in
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English in the airy manner of a colonial workman, and
I found he had been with camels to Australia, while
another came back from there with an Australian wife,
a widow with two little girls, who insisted upon accom-
panying him across the border into Afghanistan, and is
now, I presume, living in the usual nomad’s low black
tent on some arid plain.

At dusk the Afghan artillery colonel arrived to dinner,
and brought with him an invitation for me to a parade
of the Afghan troops in garrison the next morning. We
rode out together at the time appointed, and found the
governor already there, gorgeously attired in his red and
gold coat. The brigadier and colonels took up their
position as I approached, and the parade commenced at
once by a march past in slow time. I ranged myself
alongside the governor, and there we sat for an hour or
an hour and a half watching the manceuvres. The force
on parade consisted of one field battery, one mountain
battery, and two regiments of infantry. The horses of
the field battery looked light for the work they had to
do, but they wheeled and moved about with the infantry
without difficulty. The mountain guns were mounted
on good, strong ydbus or ponies; but, strange to say,
the ponies were not used on parade at all, and the
screw guns, some of those given by the Viceroy to
the Amir at Rawal Pindi, so they said, were dragged
about by the gunners in line with the infantry the
whole time. The gunners were all Kabulis, and fine
stalwart men too, and they showed their metal in this
work. They had a cross-bar fixed to the trail of the gun,
and they lifted this up and walked away with the gun as
if it was nothing. I always think a Kabuli is worth two
Kandaharis and about four Heratis for real work. After
much marching and countermarching the parade came to
an end with a general salute. For this the brigadier
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dismounted, carefully handed his pith helmet with a
cock’s feather in it to his bugler, and stood bareheaded
with his hand to his forehead at the salute the whole
time that the band played what I suppose was “God save
the Amir!” When this was over the governor and I
rode forward and went down the line, shaking hands with
the colonels and plentifully distributing our “Minda na
bishid” (May you not be tired) and other salutations
amongst the men, who grinned and replied in due form,
and seemed to be highly delighted. When we had gone
down the whole line the governor drew up again in front
with me by his side. He then removed his grey Astra-
khan hat, and the generals and I took off our helmets
and the men took off their turbans, and the governor
giving the lead, we all went through an invocation for
the welfare of his Highness the Amir with much
devotion. The troops then marched home, the band still
playing. I must say one word for that band. It was'a
bugle band, and the men were dressed in short red coats
with white trousers, and I think it played steadily
throughout the whole proceedings without ceasing. I
was on the ground for nearly two hours. How many
hours it played before I got there I don’t know.

The next day I rode round the city and cantonments
to visit the old familiar scenes of our occupation during
the war. I first inspected the cemetery and found the
graves all in perfect order. The only thing was that the
tombstones and inscriptions had all been removed, and it
was impossible to tell who the graves belonged to. The
cemetery was surrounded by a high mud wall and the
gate was bricked up, but a part of the wall fell down
at one time, and before the British agent in the city had
time to report the fact and to get sanction for money
to rebuild it, the villagers around had stolen whatever
bricks and stones they were able to remove. The
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governor, I believe, as soon as the matter was reported
to him, put a guard on the place; but I presume it was
too late to save the tombstones.

Our old cantonments were occupied to a certain extent
by the Afghan troops, but the domes in the hospital and
in some of the other squares that we left in perfect
order in 1881, had fallen in, and there was a general
look of decay; but still with a little cleaning up it
seemed to me that the majority of the old barracks
could be brought into use again without much difficulty.
The various gardens and houses occupied during the war
by the general officer commanding, the staff, the en-
gineers and others, all looked much the same as of yore.
One great improvement I noticed, and that was that the
road made by us round the west and south faces of the
city had been widened and planted with trees, and
the main Kokeran road, too, from the Herat gate had
also a fine avenue of trees.

These improvements spoke well for the Amir’s Govern-
ment, and formed a marked contrast between the Afghan
and Persian rule. At Mashhad or any town in Persia
no governor thinks of making a road or of planting a
tree. His whole thoughts are apparently concentrated
on making money, and public works of any sort are
unknown. The Afghan governors struck me as much
better in this respect.

At Kokeran I inspected Sartip Nur Muhammad
Khan’s house where Sir Hugh Gough’s cavalry brigade
was quartered after the battle of Kandahar in September
1880, and I found it a complete ruin, all the domes of
the building having fallen in. From there we made our
way down to the Argandab river, which turned out to
be only up to the men’s waists, and not so deep as we
expected. We got the baggage across on camels without
mishap, and camped for the night on the open ground
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beyond. The next day at Sinjari we passed a large
camp just getting under way, which I was told was
that of the Wali of Maimana, Muhammad Sharif Khan,
son of the late Wali Husain Khan, who with his wives
and family was on his way to Kabul under a guard of
Kandahar cavalry. What has become of him since I
have never heard.

On the 18th April 1893 we arrived at the banks of
the Helmund and crossed over to Girishk in the ferry-
boat. This boat is manned by a colony of Farsiwans
—Raisani Baluchis they called themselves—who were
brought here, they said, by Nadir Shah seven genera-
tions ago. The way they swam all the horses and mules
across the river was deserving of every praise. They
rode the animals into the water till they got out of
their depth, and then, holding on to the mane by the
right hand, they swam alongside with their left, splash-
ing water into the horse’s face to keep its head up-
stream if it showed any intention of turning. Then,
mounting again on the other side, they galloped the
animal about to warm him up after his bath. On the
far bank I found the Hdkim’s brother waiting to receive
me with tea and sweets, and we sat and chatted with
him till the baggage had all been brought over and
reloaded, and then we all rode on to the fort together.
This fort is a most important-looking structure from
the far side of the river, standing on the edge of a
conglomerate rise with low ground, green and grassy,
below it, stretching right away down to the river. By
no means a healthy place, I should imagine. The
Hakim or governor of Pusht-i-Rud, as the district is
called, met me in the fort and gave me tea in a room
he had prepared for me to live in, but I preferred to
camp in my own tent outside. There was no garrison
in the fort; a battery of field artillery and the other
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troops were all camped outside, and the only occupants
of the fort itself were the Hékim and his family. In
the evening I had some snipe-shooting in the rice-
swamps down by the river, near a ziarat or shrine.
This ziarat was the tomb of some famous Saiyid, and
was surrounded by a fine clump of big trees. Noticing
that these trees were all dead at the tops, I asked why
the dead wood had not been removed, but I was told
that no one could touch it. One man, it was said,
had once committed the sacrilege of stealing the sacred
wood, but he was punished on the spot in some awful
way, I forget how, and no one had ever dared to touch
a tree since.

At Girishk the governor appointed an Alizai Khan
named Ata Muhammad from Zemindawar, with some
half-dozen local sowars, to pilot me on to Farah. Our
first halting-place was at Sadat, and there I found a
curious water-mill. The water channel, which was on
the surface, dropped some 15 feet down a brick well and
turned the mill in a hole in the ground at the bottom,
the water running on underground in a fresh channel till
it came to the surface again lower down. In the mill I
found an Arab, as he called himself, who, seeing me shoot
some pigeons, came up with great glee and fraternised at
once, “I am a shikari; I shoot too,” said he; and he
went on to tell me that the country was full of gazelle, .
locally known as dhz, and that he used to sit up over his
crops and shoot them at night as they came to feed.
That deer were plentiful I had learned from the governor
at Girishk, who told me that the Amir had sent a circular
round to the different provinces ordering all deerskins to
be sent to Kabul to be tanned, and that he had replied
by sending off 500 skins there and then. How the deer
were not extinct I cannot think.

It was at Sddat that I first began to get some hold on
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the plundering propensities of my Afghan entertainers.
I was the Amir’s guest, and at every stage supplies were
laid in for me and my party with the utmost profusion.
I soon found, however, that these supplies were not paid
for, but owing to the strict guard kept over the camp no
villager could get in to make any complaint. At Sddat,
though, the Arab women were not to be daunted, as,
despite the guards, they forced their way into camp,
clamouring loudly for payment for the fowls and milk that
had been taken from them. This was my chance. On
making inquiries I found that while my modest demands
had been satisfied with two seers of milk and six eggs,
the servants and followers had required nothing less
than a fowl or two apiece; while as to the Afghans,
their requirements were wholesale. No wonder the poor
villagers had a bad time of it. However, I was able to
help them a little by insisting upon paying for what my
own camp required.

Our marches beyond Sddat were mostly uninteresting
and very hot. The country was almost entirely deserted,
the inhabitants being Nurzai nomads who spent the
whole of the summer with their flocks up in the hills to
the north. At this season hardly a soul was to be seen
except the one or two men left to irrigate the crops.
Many of the low hills we crossed were covered with a
small bush bearing a fruit something resembling a sloe,
but it was still green, and it was difficult to say what it
was. The Afghans called it zirga, and they said the
poorer people often lived on it for a considerable time
while their grain was ripening. At Bar, on the right
bank of the Khash Rud, I was met by Muhammad
Sharif Khan, who had been sent out to meet me by the
governor of Farah. The river here runs in a good stream
some thirty-five yards across and two feet deep. It
looked so inviting that I got out my rod and tried for



10 KHURASAN AND SISTAN.

a fish, but I could not get a rise, and finally a man
volunteered the information that there were no fish in
it, as it dried up completely in the hot weather, and even
in flood did not get down to the Helmund. The river-
bed was some half-mile in width and full of grass and
tamarisk jungle, and I had better luck with my gun, as
I found some black partridges, hill partridges, little part-
ridges, hares, and wood-pigeons. There were also traces
of pig.

After rounding the solitary peak known as the Koh-i-
Duzdan, or the thieves’ hill, our route led for forty miles
straight on end across the Dasht-i-Bakwa, a dead-level
plain without a tree, stone, or bush to vary the monotony,
and almost utterly deserted during the summer months.
The western end of this plain is just about half-way be-
tween Kandahar and Herat, and here it is on the Dasht-i-
Bakwa that the Afghans say is to be fought the great
battle of the future between the English and the Russians.
I first heard this tradition in 1886 in Afghan Turkistan,'
and I have been told the same story in various other
places, the different tellers invariably finishing up by
adding that so severe was to be the fight that after the
battle 12,000 riderless horses would be found wandering
over the plain. No one could ever tell me who was to
be the victor, but as part of General Skobeloff’s scheme of
1877 for the attack of India was “to organise hordes of
Asiatic horsemen, who to a cry of blood and plunder
were to be launched against India,” it would seem to be
clear, from the numbers of horses mentioned, that it is to
be these Asiatic horsemen who are to get the worst of it.
As to the Afghans, they firmly believe in this prophecy
and look upon a battle on the Dasht-i-Bakwa in the
future as a certainty; but of all the men in Afghanistan
who quoted the prophecy to me I could never find one

1 Vide Northern Afghanistan, p. 320.
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who could tell me who was the author of it. I sub-
sequently found out the author by accident at Mashhad.
My assistant, Khan Bahadur Moula Bakhsh, was talking
to a Herati priest there one day when the latter quoted
this identical prophecy and named the author, Shah
Ni’-Amat Ulla, Wali of Kirman. This man was a native
of Kuchan, who travelled a good deal in Iran, Turan, and
Arabia, lived in Yezd for a time, then went to Shiraz
where he was the friend of Haifiz, and afterwards to
Herat at the invitation of Shah Rukb Mirza. His later
years he passed at the village of Mahan, near Kirman,
and there he died in the year 1430 A.p, at the age of
ninety-seven. He was an author, philosopher, and saint,
who preached a form of religion of his own, and he is
mentioned in various Persian books; but I have never
been able to obtain a copy of his works, which are appar-
ently very rare, and of course only exist in manuscript.

According to the Herati priest, the Dasht-i-Bakwa was
at one time the headquarters of one of the ancient rulers
of Afghanistan, and the inhabitants were Persian-speaking
people. At another time it was occupied by Timuris,
who were removed to the neighbourhood of Kabul by one
of the Amirs, and since then it had formed the camping-
ground of Nurzais. It is clear, though, that it has not
always been the home of nomads. I found the plain
covered with the marks of old %arezes or underground
water-channels, and it had evidently been thickly popu-
lated by a cultivating class at some time, while water was
said to be obtainable all over it. 'When I passed it was
all a waste. There was no cultivation, but the grass that
grew there was said to be so good that the ghee from
it fetched a higher price than any other.

The Nurzais who now hold Bakwa are all nomads and
maldars—that is, cattle-owners and graziers in contradis-
tinction to cultivators. Consequently they are never so



12 KHURASAN AND SISTAN.

inclined to join in a fray as the cultivating classes are,
as they cannot leave their flocks and herds with no one to
look after them. In this lies the difference between the
Nurzais of Bakwa and the Alizais of Zemindawar. The
latter are cultivators pure and simple, and at off-times
are free to go away and join in any expedition that may
be on hand. In this possibly is the secret of the help
given by the Zemindawaris to Ayub Khan on his advance
to Maiwand in 1880, and the contrary by the Bakwa
Nurzais.

On the 30th April 1893 we arrived at Farah, and
never shall I forget the picture of desolation that met
my eyes as we rode in at the Kandahar gate. Farah
is a square walled place standing out in the middle of
the plain something like Kandahar, but -with the ram-
parts of Herat. It is no longer a town. It has long
been deserted by all inhabitants, and is now simply
occupied by the men of the regiment quartered in it.
The governor does not even live there. He holds his
court there in the daytime, but his family and the
families of all the sepoys and people live in the villages
outside. The houses that formerly existed have all
tumbled down, and the whole ground within the walls is
nothing but a succession of mounds and heaps varied by
pits and holes. Dotted about here and there were a few
mud huts occupied by the sepoys, and what is called the
bazar was a row of some half-dozen miserable-looking
shops near the Herat gate. The only building in the
place was the governor’s court-house.

The colonel and the “Kumedan”—as the second in
command was called—came out to welcome us, and all
the men thronged out to see us pass. The regiment
had only just returned from the Hazarahjat, and what
with cholera and service against the Hazarahs, its ranks
had been greatly thinned.
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We rode through the fort, and then camped in a
garden built by the former governor, Sirdar Muhammad
Yusuf Khan, to the north of it, and there in the
afternoon the governor, Moula Dad Khan Charki of
Logar, came to call I returned his visit the same
evening, and after that, at the request of the colonel,
I inspected his regiment on parade, and finally made a
tour round the walls.

Our next camp was at a place called Kilah-i-Sam,
or the fort of Sam, the grandfather of Rustam the
hero of Sistan—a high square mound with a swamp all
round it, the remains apparently of the ancient moat.

Our marches were all made in the very early morning,
starting well before dawn on account of the heat of
the sun; but the nights were always cool and pleasant,
and very amusing it was at times to hear the conver-
sations that went on round the camp fires in the evening
after dinner. The head-men of the tribes in the neigh-
bourhood would come in to join their Afghan brethren
on duty with me, and all would chat away for hours.
I remember one night we were talking of Sistan and the
grain it produced, and an Afghan soldier who had been
across the frontier and seen what the Persian administra-
tion was like, at once burst out with, «“ Ah, if it was not
for you and the Russians we would take Sistan to-
morrow,” and I could not help thinking what truth
there was in his words. The Persians if left to them-
selves in Sistan could not stand against the Afghans
for a day; but believing that they will be protected,
they treat the Afghans, when they meet them, with all
the scorn they can, and this is bitterly resented by the
latter.

Another night we had representatives of the Ishakzais,
Nurzais, and Barakzais all together round the fire and
talking of the results of the Afghan Boundary Commission
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of 1885—-87 I was glad to hear them unanimous in
the expression of their sense of what good that Com-
mission had done for them. It has been supposed by
some that we lost territory for the Amir by the giving
up of Panjdeh, but the tribesmen took a very different
view. According to them, miles and miles of land along
the Herat frontier, which none of them had either
seen or heard of before, had been recovered for them by
the Commission, and the Nurzais were flocking there at
the time in numbers. Far from Panjdeh being considered
as a loss, the acquisition of Badghis, that rolling pasture-
land on the northern slopes of the Parapomisus, was
looked upon by them as pure gain. Before the time
of the joint Commission, they said, not a man had
dared to go there for fear of his life. Now all was
perfect security.

The Nurzais had many tales to tell of the Amir,
and from what I could gather the latter had greatly
strengthened his position amongst them. They had
been much pleaséd by receiving a message from him
not long before to say that he was a Durani and a
nomad as well as themselves, and asking them to send
him one of their khizdis, or black nomad tents, to live in,
which they did. The Amir had also betrothed his eldest
son, Habibulla Khan, to a Nurzai girl, and his second
son to an Ishakzai girl, thus bringing both of these
important tribes to his side.

Some twenty-five miles from Sabzawar I was met by
Muhammad Akbar Khan, Kakari, and a Duffadar and
sixteen sowars of the Chahar Yari Cavalry Regiment,
who had been sent out by the governor of Herat to meet
and escort me through his district. They also brought
twenty ydbus or baggage ponies for me in case I was in
want of carriage. I recognised Muhammad Akbar Khan's
face, and found he had been with us at Bala Murghab
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when the Boundary Commission was encamped there in
the winter of 1884. Some time after his arrival a fresh
body of sowars came into sight, and this turned out to
be the governor of Sabzawar, Yasin Khan, Barakzai,
and we all rode into the town together. The Sabzawar
Valley seemed to be rich in water, and the whole place
smiled with cultivation. The town, which is a high-
walled structure, was so hid by its surrounding gardens
that one could hardly see anything of it, except those
portions of the walls that towered up above the trees. To
call Sabzawar a town, though, is. a misnomer, as all the
people live outside. I camped in a garden close to the
Hauz-i-Ambar at the gate, and in the evening I paid
my visit to the governor. Passing through the so-called
bazar inside the gate, which consisted apparently of only
some half-dozen shops of Shikarpuri Hindus, we found
ourselves in the midst of desolation. The main fort is
uninhabited, and contains nothing but a few ruined
houses, empty spaces, and holes full of water. In the
centre of all this stood a square, lofty building, which
was the governor’s residence—a more wretched. place to
live in I never saw, but the view from the top was
grand. The whole ground below the town, as I saw it
that May evening, was one sheet of green, and every-
thing looked peaceful in the light of the setting sun.
The air was cool and pleasant after the heat of Farah,
and the place was said to be healthy. The most notable
feature was the ruin of a grand old fort, called the
Kilah-i-Dukhtar, that crowned the last hills of a ridge
some three miles to the south of the town. The walls
of this ancient fortress apparently enclosed a large area,
as they ran right down to the water’s edge at the elbow
of the river. They were said to be built partly of stone
and partly of brick, and were accredited by local tradi-
tion to Z4l, the father of Rustam. Opposite the fortress,
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and out in the plain on the other side of the river, were
the ruined mud walls of some ancient city, and in the
hills beyond there was said to have been another fortress.
The present Sabzawar is said to be only the citadel of
the former city, the walls of which are still to be traced
to the west, and are accredited by local tradition to fire-
worshippers.

At Hauz-i-Mir Daoud, fourteen miles from Herat, we
found a large square robat or caravanserai of burnt brick,
and, strange to say, not in ruins like the majority of
these ancient buildings. It was filled with the litter of
ages, and too dirty for occupation; but still it was roofed
and apparently water-tight, and would afford welcome
shelter in a storm. Here I was met by Khan Bahadur
Mirza Yakub Ali Khan, the British agent at Herat, and
shortly afterwards a note arrived from the governor him-
self to say that he had detailed the colonel of artillery
and a troop of cavalry to meet and escort me in next
morning, and that he had also sent out the mirad to
see that everything was arranged for my crossing of
the river. On arrival at the river bank next morning
we accordingly found a nuinber of aobazis as they are
here called, i.e. expert swimmers, to help the baggage
across. We had three channels of the river to cross, but
in each the water was only up to about the horses’ girths,
and the baggage was all got over without accident.or
wetting. On the right bank, near the remaining arches
of the old bridge, the Pal-i-Malun, I found the colonel of
artillery in a gorgeous blue uniform and the governor
of Herat’s son waiting to receive me; behind them
again was drawn up a squadron of Turki sowars of the
Chahar Yari Regiment under a Risaldar and other irre-
gulars. We had an imposing entry into the city. We
were marched right through the bazar, and thence by
the citadel to the governor’s house. Two companies of
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infantry were drawn up as a guard of honour at the gate,
and at the door I was met by the governor himself, our
old friend Kazi Sasadudin Khan, Barakzai, of the Boun-
dary Commission days, and also by the Sipah Salar, or
commander-in-chief, Faramorz Khan. I was taken in
and introduced to General Allahdad Khan Firozkohi,
whom I recognised as an old acquaintance, and to the
various colonels and commandants of the different regi-
ments, and then we all sat down to tea and sweets.

The artillery colonel and the cavalry escorted me back
to the quarters that had been prepared for me in the
Bagh-i-Karta, and about midday I was joined by the
party sent to meet me from Mashhad, under Lieutenant
the Hon. H. Napier.

In the evening the Naib-ul-Hukumat, as the governor
is locally called, came down to pay me a formal visit. He
was carried down in a sedan chair, having been far from
well ; so much so, in fact, that I had begged him not to
come, but he would insist upon it.

The next morning Napier and I rode out, escorted by
the artillery colonel and some twenty sowars, to call on
the Sipar Salar in the citadel. There all the colonels
and commandants were assembled, and we paid quite a
long visit, chatting away about the troops, &c. After this
we just had time to have a look at the Musalla before
going in to breakfast with the governor at his house.

The next two days were mostly employed in inspecting
the fortifications, and on the evening of the 15th May
1893 we went up to the citadel to witness a parade of
the Afghan troops in garrison. This was a fine sight,
and oné that I was very pleased with. We—that is to
say, the governor, the commander-in-chief, Napier, the
British agent, and myself—all sat in an open room
overlooking the new citadel parade-ground, and the

troops were paraded below us. The men drilled steadily,
B
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and General Allahdad Khan manceuvred his division
quietly and well. Finally the battalions were formed
up and gave a general salute, after which they all
marched past on their way to their various lines. The
general and colonels all then came up and joined us at
tea, after which we bid each other farewell. That same
afternoon I started for the frontier.

Riding out on the road to Parwana, I could not help
contrasting the Herat, as I had known it, of 1885 with
the Herat of 1893. In the former year the greater part
of the houses in the city were uninhabited and mostly
in ruins; while as to citizens, scarcely a soul was to be
seen, and had it not been for the garrison, the place
would have been like a city of the dead! That was
the Herat represented in the accompanying picture.
In 1893 I found it much more flourishing, and vastly
improved in every way. The houses formerly in ruins
had been rebuilt, and there was said to be a civil
population of some 3000 families, in addition to the
troops resident in the town, while the cultivation and
population in the valley outside appeared to have also
considerably increased.

Outside the city walls I found the principal men of
the Kandahar Cavalry Guard, who had escorted me from
Kandahar, waiting for me by the roadside to say good-
bye. The Herat officials were very jealous of these
Kandahar men, and directly they were relieved by Herat
troops they were no longer allowed to come near me.
The men felt this, and sent me a message to say that
they did not wish to let me go without making their
salaam, and the only way they could manage to see me
was by meeting me on the road, which they did. This
showed good feeling on their part, and I mention it as
wherever I have been associated with Afghan troops I

1 Northern Afghauistan, p. 29.
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have always found them one and all respectful, willing,
apd obliging, and I have never had occasion to notice
a single case amongst them of that sullenness that we
were so used to at the time of the war.

So far as I have had an opportunity of judging, I
should say that the Afghan army is imbued with a feeling
friendly to the British, and that this feeling is gaining
ground more and more every year, not only in the army,
but amongst the people of the country generally, and that
the animosity against us caused by the losses inflicted by
us upon them during the war is year by year dying out.
~ In the south this is less marked than in the north. In
Kandahar, for instance, the people know nothing of and
think little of the Russians, They have heard of them
but nothing more, and have no immediate knowledge of
or dread of them. The farther north one goes the more
this is altered, and the more one hears of complaints
against the Russians. I have several times had it said
to me by Afghans, “ Well, if we are: to come under a
European Power we hope it may be under you.” “Why?”
said I. *“Because,” was the reply, “ with you our women
are safe; see what it is with the Russians.” There is no
doubt, I think, that the excellent discipline in this re-
spect, preserved throughout the British army during the
Afghan War of 1879-81, was productive of the best
results in the minds of the Afghan people. During our
two years' occupation of Afghanistan, so far as is known,
not a woman of the country was touched or molested in
any way; whereas, so the Afghans say, the Turkomans
bitterly complain that the Russian soldiers are perpetually
pursuing their women, and that when they do bring this
to notice they can get no redress.

As to the troops themselves, I found that at Herat an
attempt had lately been made to get the men into some
sort of uniform. Almost all had got old British red tunies,
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and each regiment had a distinctive trouser of some light
material. The Amir gives no uniforms to his troops as.a
general rule, but such is the spirit of the men that they buy
these tunics and trousers for themselves. The trade be-
tween India and Afghanistan in cast-off tunics must be
very large, but it is not with India alone that this trade
exists, as I remember once seeing a whole squadron of
Afghan cavalry clad in the cast-off coats of guards and
ticket-collectors of the South-Eastern and Metropolitan
Railways, which shows that there must be a regular
trade in old uniforms with England as well. One thing
is certain, and that is, the Afghan soldier is never happy
without a uniform ; get it he will, and his pride in this
respect is an excellent trait in his character. At Herat
all the men wore a round brown felt cap as their head-
dress, while the officers, under the Amir’s orders, were to
provide themselves with Indian helmets. We saw no
formations or manceuvres in extended order during our
stay, but the ordinary company and battalion drill was
well done, and I could not help being struck by the
general steadiness on parade. The words of command
were all in Pushtoo, and the drill, though antiquated, was
good. The spirit of the Afghan soldiery, to judge by the
way they talk, is excellent. In various places on my
journey through Afghanistan I heard the sentiment ex-
pressed by the men that they were looking forward to
have an opportunity to wipe out their defeat at Panjdeh.
“ Then,” they said, “we were few in numbers and had
nothing but old muzzle-loading muskets, and those were
so drenched in the rain they would not go off. Now the
Sirkar has given us breechloaders, and we can hold our
own on even terms, and when the time comes for the
fight the result will be very different.” All expressed
their reliance on British aid in what they considered to
be the coming struggle, and said they were confident of
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victory. Afghan officers and officials of all ranks, though
are very jealous of any intercourse or communication
between their men and British officers. This is due, I
think, to the fear that the men might draw conclusions
between British rule and Afghan rule unfavourable to
the latter. Nothing keeps a British Indian subject more
loyal than to see somebody worse off than himself in a
neighbouring native state; and so, conversely, is the fear
of the effect on the Afghan subject of seeing somebody
better off than himself in the British officers’ camp always
present in the mind of the Afghan governor.
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CHAPTER IL
THE RUSSIAN-AFGHAN FRONTIER.

MARrcHING north from Herat into Badghis, which may
be described as the country stretching north from the
Parapomisus to the Russian frontier and bounded by the
Band-i-Turkistan Mountains on the east and the river
Hari Rud on the west, I was again struck by the
difference between the Badghis of 1885 and the Badghis
of 1893. In the former year it was the home of the wild
pig and the pheasant, and hardly a man dared to show
his face in it. The few inhabitants it possessed had only
just arrived, and the country was mostly a waste, the
hunting-ground of Turkoman raiders. In the latter year
the old karezes and canals had been opened out and
hamlets were springing up in every direction. After
crossing the Ardewan Pass we emerged on to rolling
grassy downs covered with vegetation of all kinds, and
beyond that we wound our way through almost continual
cultivation and a succession of hamlets. At many of
these the villagers were waiting for us with pots of
dogh, a kind of sour milk very cool and refreshing.
Our road ran down a valley almost due north most of
the way, and we could see by the long straight depression
existing in places that we were travelling on what must
have been once a great highway, probably the high-road
from Herat to Merv, when the latter was at the height of
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its glory. The size of the buildings still extant, such as
the huge caravanserai known as Khush Robat, testified
to the traffic of former days, and we wondered where
all that traffic had gone which once made it worth while
to erect such works along this route. Jamshidi hamlets
were mostly confined to the neighbourhood of Herat,
but beyond them again in the valley of the Kushk I
found a large number of Durani tribesmen from Pusht-i-
Rud and Zamindawar, whilst Nurzais were established to
the west of them again. The Amir appeared to have
pursued a settled policy in thus peopling his northern
frontier with pure Afghan tribes. It is only the non-
Afghan tribes, such as the Maimanah Uzbegs and the
Herat Hazarahs and Jamshidis that have intercourse or
communication with the Russian Turkomans, and ap-
parently it had been determined to encircle these with
a cordon of Pushtu- speaking races. These Afghan
cultivators are never likely to break away from Afghani-
stan or to willingly fall under Russian influence, and this
colonisation of the northern provinces during the last few
years has consequently worked a considerable change in
Afghan border politics.

On the 18th May, the date originally named by me
before leaving India, we duly arrived at Chihal Dukh-
taran, on the banks of the river Kushk, which here
marks the Russian frontier. We pitched our camp
under the clump of trees known as the Chihal Dukhtar
Ziarat. A spring here bubbles up out of the side of
a mound beneath a tangled mass of reeds, and below
that again were a row of mulberry trees which afforded
grateful shade for our tents. On the opposite or eastern
bank of the river stood the southernmost pillar of the
boundary marked out by Colonel Peacocke and myself
in 1887.

Not finding any news of the Russian Cominissioner, I
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wrote to the Russian officer commanding the Kushk post,

twelve miles farther north, asking him to forward on a

letter from me to the Russian Commissioner, telling of
my arrival, and also asking him to let me know what

news there was of the Russian Commissioner's move-

ments, and when he was likely to arrive. The messenger

returned the same evening with a reply from Lieutenant-

Colonel Khomichevski, commanding the post, acknow-

ledging receipt of my letter, and saying that the Russian

Commissioner ought to arrive shortly, and on his arrival
would himself inform me of the fact ; adding that many

telegrams had been sent concerning my arrival.

Next day Napier and I put on our uniforms, and,
accompanied by my orderlies and the usual escort of
Afghan cavalry, we rode over to the Kushk post to call
upon Colonel Khomichevski. Remembering the pleasant
time of it Colonel Peacocke and I had in Transcaspia on
our return from the demarcation of the Afghan frontier
in the spring of 1888, and the kindness and hospitality
with which we were then received at Karki, Chaharjui,
Merv, and Ashkabad, I was looking forward with pleasure
to the chance of renewing my acquaintance with Russian
officers; but, alas, my anticipations were doomed to sad
disappointment. We had a ten-mile ride down the
valley of the Kushk to the Afghan frontier post at Kara
Tappa, where we found a bairak, or company, of Khas-
adars, or Afghan irregulars, posted on the banks of the
river near the boundary pillar. Leaving them we crossed
the river and rode up to the Russian outpost on the
opposite bank. Here we found a sergeant and three
Russian soldiers, who fixed bayonets and refused to
permit us to pass. A Cossack who was with them had
saddled up his pony and mounted as we approached, and
Napier having explained to him in Russian who we were,
and that we had come to call on the colonel, he galloped
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off as hard as he could to announce our advent, saying
that he would soon be back. However, we sat on and
sat on by the roadside there, and it was not till an hour
had elapsed that our Cossack was at last descried; but
he returned at a walk, and with quite a different manner.
Instead of the respect with which he had saluted us
before, he now sauntered up and told us that he had
reported our arrival to the colonel, but that the latter
had said that he supposed we were merely a couple of
English private soldiers, and that he had given him no
orders to let us pass. All we could do, therefore, was to
leave our cards for the colonel at the outpost and ride
back again.

On my return I wrote to Colonel Khomichevski, in-
forming him of what had occurred; but my letter was
never replied to and my visit was never returned, and
though day after day during our stay in the Kushk
Valley we spent hours in the Russian Commissioner’s
camp at that same outpost, within a couple of miles of
the Kushk post station, never once did we set eyes on
either the commandant or on a single officer of the
garrison.

Our Afghan escort were very angry at the rudeness
with which we were turned back, and the way they
showed their resentment was amusing. They waited till
the Russian Commissioner arrived and came to call on
me, and then, instead of turning out as a guard of honour
to salute him, they let him pass unnoticed, and after he
was gone I found them quite cheery, and full of the idea
that they were even with those Russians at last.

A week passed before we received any news of the
Russian Commissioner, and then a note came in from
M. Ignatiev to say that he and his assistant had arrived
and would call the next day, which they did. On re-
turning M. Ignatiev’s visit he was kind enough to ask
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us to stay to dinner, and we passed a pleasant evening
at his camp, starting to ride back at 9 p.M. The follow-
ing days were spent in examining the various canals and
cultivated fields which formed the subject of our inquiry.
We finished off work at the Chihal Dukhtar Canal, close
to our camp, and then the Russian Commissioners came
in to dine with us. We sat down a party of nine, consist-
ing of M. Ignatiev, Russian Commissioner ; .Lieutenant-
Colonel Artamanov, Assistant-Commissioner ; Lieutenant
Graf Armfeld, English Interpreter, and Topographer
Nassibiantz; Painda Khan, the Afghan agent with me
and my assistants, Lieutenant Napier, Mir Shams Shah,
and Ghulam Murtaza Khan. Outside, my Baluchistan
police orderlies entertained the Cossacks, and our Tur-
koman postal couriers from Mashhad entertained their
Turkoman brethren on the Russian side.

The month of June was a very sickly one for almost
all of us. Both Napier and myself and most of the
people in camp suffered badly from fever, and the heat
was great, ranging from 98 to 103 each day in our tents,
despite the shade of the trees.

In July we were gladdened by the arrival of Captain
Duke, the Residency Surgeon at Mashhad. His hospital
was soon thronged with patients from all the surrounding
Afghan hamlets, and what with our own and the Afghan
agent’s camp, and the Afghan troops and villagers, his
hands were pretty full. The Russian Commission were
just as sickly as ourselves, M. Ignatiev was very ill,
and, like myself, he did not shake off that horrible
Kushk fever for the next six months. At the Kushk
post 400 men were in hospital out of the Russian
battalion quartered there, and the Kushk Valley proved
itself a most unhealthy place for all.

Our work brought us into constant intercourse with
the Afghan settlers in the hamlets around, and it was



THE RUSSIAN-AFGHAN FRONTIER. 27

curious so see how these men, even in this remote corner
of their country, still dwelt on their connection with
India. One of the Maliks boasted that he had formerly
lived at Hoti Mardan in the Punjab, and others had
connections in India. All the intercourse of Afghans
and all their interests seem to lie with India. With
Indis is almost all their trade. In India they enlist in
the army and work on the roads and railways, and thus
numbers of men who have been in India are scattered
throughout Afghanistan. Hundreds of Ghilzais and
Hazarahs used to come in to Quetta every year when
I was there, to work on the railway, and this constant
intercourse all tends to turn the minds of the Afghan
people to India. On the Russian side there is nothing
of the sort. There is comparatively little trade, no enlist-
ment, and little work, though the Murghab Railway, I
believe, attracted a certain number of Afghans for a time.

I remember contrasting the difference in the employ-
ment of native labour, as shown in the Russian frontier
station of Karki, on the Oxus'® with our own frontier
stations in Baluchistan. Karki was occupied in May
1887, and Colonel™Peacocke and I visited it in March
1888. We found the soldiers all housed in capital
barracks and the officers’ houses all built, and yet there
was not a single native of the country in the whole
cantonment. The Russian troops had built their own
barrdcks and their officers’ houses as well. They cooked
their own food, @rove their own water-carts, and washed
their own clothes.

In the Indian frontier station of Loralai, in Baluchistan,
which had a garrison of a similar strength to that of
Karki in 1888—viz. a regiment of cavalry, a regiment
of infantry, and a battery of artillery—and was built
nearly about the same time, all this was altered. Loralai

! Northern Afghanistan, p. 400.
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took a much longer time to build, it cost a large sum of
money, and not a hand was put to it by the troops them-
selves. The whole station was built by civil labour, and
when built the garrison, although all Indians and not
Europeans, employed on an average a native follower for
every fighting man to keep itself going. In India doubt-
less a certain number of followers are required, but when
I saw a European regiment straight from Quetta in camp
at the Pyramids, and the men driving their own water-
carts, cooking their own dinners, and doing everything
for themselves—though in quite as hot a climate as that
of Quetta—1I cane to the conclusion that followers, even
for European troops, were not everywhere in India an
absolute necessity. Native troops, and Indian cavalry
especially, employ a large number of followers, but the
Afghan cavalry have none, and what the Afghan cavalry
can do the Indian cavalry can do. A certain number of
followers will always be necessary on service, but I should
like to see as many of these as possible trained and
enlisted men, capable to a certain extent of defending
themselves. A light carbine slung on their backs and
a small knife-bayonet in their waistbands would enable
them to assist in repelling attacks on their convoys by
day or their camps by night, and yet would not incom-
mode them in their work.

However, to return to our frontier tribesmen. Once a
week we used to collect them about us for sports, and it
was astonishing with what eagerness they entered into
the fun. Before long, under Napier's supervision, a
steeplechase course was marked out, jumps erected, and
regular races inaugurated. One day the Russian Com-
missioners came over to join us, and we all spent the
afternoon together at the sports. We commenced with
goat-cutting with swords for the Afghan cavalry. We
ourselves joined in this, and so did the Cossacks, but
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nothing would induce the Russian officers to try a run.
When the goat was disposed of we took up our position
on a little mound that formed the grand stand for the
occasion, and started the races. The Afghan cavalrymen
were as keen as possible over it. We had two races—
one for the regulars on escort duty with myself, and one
for the Khawanin or tribal levy sowars on duty with
the Afghan agent. Each was run in two heats, with a
final race for the first three in each heat. There were
eight jumps of sorts, not big ones of course, as not a
man of the lot had ever jumped his horse in his life
till we began to teach him, but sufficiently high to give
some fun.

The Cossacks, too, joined in and had their race, and
went round the course in good style, not a pony refusing.
They also gave us an exhibition of their horsemanship,
but this consisted almost entirely in bending over in their
saddles and picking up handkerchiefs off the ground at
a gallop, and in jumping off and vaulting on to their
saddles again. They seemed to show little proficiency
with their swords. There were about fifteen of them
on the ground altogether, and after the races Colonel
Artamanov put them through some movements to show
us how they worked. Their ponies were well in hand
and wonderfully under control. One manceuvre, sup-
posed to show what they did if caught in the open, was
when cantering along in line they suddenly swung round
inwards, and each man jumped off and in a few seconds
was firing away, resting his rifle on his pony’s saddle.
They formed a ring, ponies outside and men inside,
wonderfully quickly, and not a pony moved. Again
advancing at a canter, they suddenly halted and made
all their ponies lie down with a rapidity that showed
uncommon good training. The Cossacks of the Caucasus
are without doubt capital, hardy, handy men. They are
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in their element as scouts and foragers, and as a screen
to an army. I have heard Cossack officers. say that in
war their role is to go ahead and to be the scouts and
outposts of the army, both infantry and cavalry having
complete rest while they are in front, and thus coming
up fresh to do the fighting. Their réle, they say, is not
to fight, and certainly they are armed and equipped
neither as infantry nor cavalry, and would be at a
disadvantage when opposed to either.

About the middle of August the weather began to
change, and the nights got cool. The young sand-
grouse then began to appear, and formed a welcome
addition to our larder. We had various expeditions
into the chul, as the rolling, undulating ground on
either side of the river was called, after deer; but
though lots were seen, none were bagged. We turned
out all the Afghan sowars, too, to try and beat the
wild pig out of the reed swamp up the river above
our camp, but without success. The reeds were so
thick that neither men nor horses could get through,
and they were not dry emough to burn. Towards the
end of the month teal, snipe, and quail began to make
their appearance. All this time work was steadily pro-
gressing, and on the 3rd September 1893 the final
protocol was signed. We dined for the last time with
the Russian Commission, and they dined with us, and
that was the end of our festive evenings together.

M. Ignatiev started for Petersburg, and I to join my
appointment at Mashhad. Instead of returning to Herat
and going round by the high-road I struck off due west
across Badghis. Leaving the Kushk Valley on the 6th
September 1893 we crossed the hills into the valley of
the Moghor stream, which was under cultivation by
Jamshidis, and thence to Gulran, where I was visited
by the Hékim of Ghorian, who had been posted to
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watch the frontier with fifty Afghan sowars on the
look-out for a refugee named Abdul Majid, a grandson
of Sultan Ahmad, the last independent ruler of Herat.
This man had lately escaped from Mashhad, where he
had been living on a pension from the Persian Govern-
ment, and was said to be in Russian territory organising
a raid on Herat. However nothing came of the attempt,
and the last heard of Abdul Majid was that he was living
at Samarkand, where he had been granted an allowance
by the Russian Government.

Gulran we found in the occupation of Afghan nomads,
and the road on from there to Robat-i-Surkh was very
hilly. We found the hoof-marks of wild asses which
had evidently come in from the chwl to drink, but we
had not the luck to come across any, and apparently
they were getting very scarce.

We struck the Hari Rud at Kaman-i-Bihisht on the
10th September 1893. The bed of the river was mostly
dry, with pools of salt-water here and there, and we had
to send some distance to get water fit to drink. A gale
of wind blew all day and we were covered with dust.

The Russian frontier post on the banks of the Hari
Rud is at Pul-i-Khatun. The old bridge there has been
rebuilt by the Russians, and free communication across
the river into Persian territory has thus been obtained at
all times of the year. It was from Pul-i-Khatun that
the Cossacks were despatched into Persia in 1897, and
the place will be an important one in any future
advance. :
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CHAPTER IIIL
THE PERSIAN NORTH-EAST FRONTIER.

THE nearest inhabitants on the Persian side to the
Russians at Pul-i-Khatun are the Jamshidis at Shuriya.
These Jamshidis originally came from Herat with the
Hissam-us-Sultanah after the siege of 1857, and they
afford a good instance of the wandering nature of the
tribesmen of these parts. They numbered about 2000
families at that time, and were first settled in the
Sar-i-Jam district under their chief Allahyar Khan.
They were driven from there to Khanagusha and Karra-
bukha near Mashhad by Turkoman raids, and from
there a large number returned to Herat. Allahyar Khan
himself at last went back as well, and then the remain-
ing families were moved by the Persian Government
away back to Kushkhana, in Kuchan, and placed under
the Routi chief, Ismail Khan.

Eventually Allahyar Khan fled back from Herat,
returned to Mashhad and was reinstated as chief of the
Jamshidis in Khurasan, but the numbers of the tribe
were reduced to 150 families by the famine of 1871.
Allahyar Khan died at Karrabukba, and was succeeded
by his son, Zulfikar Khan. In 1885 the tribes were
moved to Paskamar, where their numbers still further
dwindled down to 80 families. Zulfikar Khan sub-
sequently opened negotiations with the Russians, and
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he and his tribesmen were sent back in 1889 by the
Persian Government from Paskamar to Karrabukha.
Zulfikar Khan shortly afterwards fled from there to
Russian territory, whereupon his younger brother, Mu-
hammad Azim Khan, was appointed chief of the tribe
in his place, and they were settled at Jellalabad and
Jizaabad, some ten farsakhs to the south-east of
Mashhad. Zulfikar Khan, however, afterwards returned
from Russian territory and settled with his tribe at
Shuriya and Paskamar on the Kashaf Rud, and both he
and his younger brothers now receive allowances from
the Persian Government, and the tribe has a service
of 50 sowars.

The Jamshidis in Herat still apparently have a
hankering after Persia. Though they were removed by
the Amir from their more distant quarters at Kushk
in 1885, and settled near Herat itself under close
supervision, they still get away at times. In 1893 about
50 families managed to make good their flight from
Herat to Khurasan, and were settled by the Persians in
the Zurabad district under their chief Saiyad Ahmad Beg,
and others possibly may follow if they get the chance.

The Routis are another tribe that have had wander-
ings very similar to the Jamshidis, and are now located
with them at Paskamar on the Kashaf Rud. They came
originally from Derawat in Kandahar, and after many
wanderings in Khurasan and Badghis they finally were
settled in 1857 to the number of 700 families in Sar-
i-Jam. They were driven from there with the Jam-
shidis to Khanagusha and Karrabukha by Turkoman
raids, and were also moved with them to Kushkhana in
Kuchan. They then numbered some 550 families, but
were reduced to 200 in the famine of 1871. They
returned from Kushkhana to Khanagusha, and were

moved to Paskamar in 1885,
c
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These constant changes of residence show what little
ties frontier tribesmen as a rule have to the land they
occupy, and how devoid they are of all sense of patriotism
or devotion to any particular country.

Immediately to the north of the Jamshidis, the only
residents on the Persian side are in the extreme north-
east corner at Sarakhs.

Persian Sarakhs consists of nothing but a walled
enclosure or fort. Inside is the residence of the Hikim
or Persian governor, and also of the Karguzar and the
Persian telegraph clerk. The remainder is mostly, I
believe, a ruin. Some two or three hundred sarbazes or
Persian infantry and a few topckis or artillerymen are
quartered in the place. In addition to the Persian
garrison there are some 150 families of Arab descent
located in the place. These Arabs were settled at
Sarakhs in 1874, and have a service of 50 horsemen.
About 100 families of Sistanis were also settled there in
1888 with a service of 60 footmen, but their numbers
have now dwindled down to about 60 families. All these
people are nominally cultivators, but they eke out a
miserable existence by all accounts. At the time of the
Russo - Persian boundary settlement, one -sixth of the
water of the river was assigned to Persian Sarakhs and
the remaining five-sixths to Russia, consequently there is
little or no water for cultivation on the Persian side. On
the Russian side this is all changed, and there is plenty
of cultivation. The bazar and the Salor Turkomans to
the number of some 2000, who live about a couple of
miles beyond the cantonment, and the small colony of
Russian families of German descent located beyond them
again, are all under the charge of the Pristav, who appar-
ently is a sort of revenue collector and police magistrate
rolled into one. The pay of these appointments as
Pristav is only some 180 roubles or about £19 a month,
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I believe; but this is large in comparison to the pay of
the Russian military officers, who at the outside only get
fifty per cent. on the pay of their rank in Russia proper.
The Russian garrison in 1894 consisted of one infantry
regiment, the 5th Transcaspian battalion, and one com-
pany of a reserve battalion, and the photograph gives
a picture of their barracks. Russian regiments in Trans-
caspia in ordinary course never change stations, con-
sequently the officers at Sarakhs are there for their lives,
so to speak. The men hate the place, I have been told,
and attempts at desertion are frequent; but though the
heat is great it is not unhealthy, and they do not get the
fever there that rages so terribly at Merv and at the
Kushk post. The Russian telegraph line to Sarakhs has
been brought down to the river and joined on to the
Persian line from Mashhad, which has been considerably
improved and is now in fair working order. A consider-
able amount of Russian traffic now passes along it. The
Russian Government, however, do not subsidise the
Persian Government on that account as we do—on the
contrary, the Persian Government have to go to con-
siderable expense in repairing the line to meet Russian
requirements.

On leaving Afghan territory at Kaman-i-Bihisht we
crossed the Hari Rud to the banks of the Jam in Persian
territory, and followed the course of that river up to
Amirabad. We found the Jam very narrow, hardly ten
yards in breadth in fact, full of dense reeds and utterly
impassable, so deep was the mud. The water too was
brackish, and though we beat both banks we only saw
two pheasants in the whole twelve miles. We found lots
of chakor though, or red-legged hill partridge, called
kabk in Persia, and bagged eight or ten brace of them
and a hare and a teal.

Our ride the next day to Turbat-i-Shaikh Jam was
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across a waste plain the whole way. Here we struck the
high-road from Herat to Mashhad, and came into direct
communication with both places by means of the line of
postal couriers kept up by the Indian Government for
the conveyance of the Indian mails from Herat to the
agent to the governor-general at Mashhad. The post-
bag is despatched by the Amir'’s post from Chaman
through the British agents at Kandahar and Herat, and
thence these couriers take it on to Mashhad. On the
Afghan side Afghan sowars are employed, but on the
Persian side of the border the couriers are mostly
Turkomans, mainly Sariks from Panjdeh, who were
employed as guides and couriers by the Afghan Boundary
Comnmission before Panjdeh was taken possession of by
Russia, and who have remained on in British service
ever since, many of them having become naturalised
British subjects. These men are posted in relays along
the road, three men at each stage, about 6 farsakhs or
24 miles apart, and Turbat-i-Shaikh Jam being about
half-way between Herat and Mashhad, the British agent
in charge of the line was stationed there, and was present
to meet us on arrival. We had a great parting at
Amirabad with our Afghan hosts, the Mehmandar and
the Jamadar and men of the cavalry. They had accom-
panied us thus far to see us safe to the first inhabited
village in Persian territory, and then took leave and re-
turned to Herat. They were good fellows all round, and
we were sorry to part with them. On their departure
the Turkoman postal sowars took up their duty and kept
watch over our camp at night.

The village of Turbat-i-Shaikh Jam, or Jam as it is
locally called, consisted only of some 250 houses of
people known as Jémis. The tribe was said to number
some 4000 families, all cultivators, and formerly had a
chief of its own. Alizar Khan, the head-man of Farai-
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man, was the representative of the chief’s family, but he
had no power. His father had been deprived of the
chiefship, and the tribe were under the control of the
governor of the district for the time being. Those of
them at Turbat-i-Shaikh Jam lived inside a square mud
fort. Around this were a number of gardens, where
quantities of fruit were grown. The shrine or tomb of
the holy man who gave his name to the place lies to the
east of the town, and the lofty aiwan or arch surmounted
by the usual square superstructure, with a couple of domed
minarets, stood up clear above the surrounding trees,
and was visible from afar. The face of this arch was
originally covered with tiles, but these had been greatly
destroyed, and the Kufic inscription was quite illegible.
Some of the flower patterns remaining, though, were good.
The enclosure in front was full of graves, but the whole
place looked dirty and deserted, and the musjid, corridors,
and buildings around were mostly in a state of ruin.
Khanikoff gives a short biography of the saint, and
according to him Shaikh Jam was the thirty-eighth in
descent from Abraham, and was born near Turshiz, of
Arab origin, in A.D. 1048, and died in 1141. An inscrip-
tion inside the dome of the mausoleum bears date A.p.
1456, and some lines of poetry engraved on a stone are
said to have been placed on the grave by the Emperor
Humaiyun in 1544. Around the tomb were the graves
of various holy men, dating from 1612 to 1642, but
there was no record of anything specially ancient.

From Turbat-i-Shaikh Jam to Mashhad is a distance
of 96 miles. At Langar (15) we found the ruins of a
fine old shrine in a garden and a big reservoir full of
water. I was too ill with Kushk fever to go out, but
Napier and Duke shot over the snipe jheel there, and
made a good bag. Our next camp was at Karez-i-
Nou, 18 miles beyond. The principal feature of the
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country was the number of ruins about and of old
karezes that ran for miles across the plain, showing that
at some time or other the land was much more flourish-
ing than it is now. Faraiman (23) consisted of a good-
sized open village, surrounded by fields of lucerne. To
the north-west of the village, close to the high-road,
a fine new robat or rest-house was being built by the
Nusrat-ul-Mulk, the chief of the Timuris in Persia.

These Timuris are said to be of Tartar origin, but to
have come to Khurasan from Syria, whence some 20,000
families of them were moved by Amir Timur (1369-1405),
after whose name they were called. Timur first settled
them in Balkh and gave them in dowry to his daughter,
who was married to one Mir Saiyid Kalél, a holy man of
Arab descent who lived on the banks of the Oxus, and
was Timur’s spiritual guide. On Mir Saiyid’s death the
tribe was distributed amongst his sons. Among these
was one Saiyid Mir Shahid, or Mir Shah Khan, who
got about 4000 families, and moved thewn from Balkh to
Herat. There apparently they increased in numbers, as
after his siege of Herat in 1883 Muhammad Shah Kajar
moved some 8000 families of them to Khurasan under
their chief, Kilich Khan, a great-grandson of Mir Shah
Khan, who subsequently obtained great power, and be-
came the ruling chief of the Jam, Bakhurz, Khaf, and
Zorabad districts under the title of Amir. About 2000
families are said to be still in Afghanistan in the Herat,
Sabzawar, and Farah districts, and in 1897 some 120
families of these suddenly crossed the border into Persian
territory, before the Afghan authorities got news of their
flight. The latter followed them up and did their best
to persuade them to return, but they refused to do so.
The Timuris in Persia are now supposed to number about
6000 families all told.

About a mile out of Bakirabad we passed a ruined
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brick 7obat and then the village of Sangbast, and away
to the right of that again was a tall minaret and a dome,
locally said to be the mausoleum of Agaz the slave and
minister of Mahmud of Ghazni, whose native place it
was, The Tarikh-i-Yamini, however, states that the
founder of the robat at Sangbast was Arsalan Jézib, Wali
of Tus under Sultan Mahmud of Ghazni (997-1028),
whose mausoleum was also there. The probability, there-
fore, is that these are the remains of those buildings.
Beyond this we came to a low rise at the end of some
hills topped by a tower, from which we looked down on
the Mashhad plain. Here it is that the pious pilgrim
from the Herat side gets his first glimpse of the distant
shrine.

At Turuk (17) we camped close to a building to the
south of the village, consisting of a lofty atwan or portico
between fifty and sixty feet in height, with a domed
enclosure behind it, presumably the mausoleum of some
famous man, but now utterly in ruins and unrecognis-
able. The inscription had gone, and nothing was known
as to who built the place or what it was built for. In
front of it were three large and beautifully carved tomb-
stones in black marble, but broken and defaced. One of
these, according to the Sani-ud-Dowlah, has an inscrip-
tion in Arabic to one Darwesh Yahiya dated A.H. 716
(1817 A.p.), but none of us could make out the name or
date at all.
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CHAPTER 1IV.
MASHHAD.

At Turuk I received the Persian programme of the
reception that was to be accorded to me on my arrival
at Mashhad the next morning, and I cannot do better
than give a translation of the document as a specimen
of Persian official etiquette. It ran as follows:—

The reception party will consist of the following officials :—

On the part of the Governor-General.

A sartip (colonel) in full uniform, head of the reception
party.

A yuzbashi (non-commissioned officer), with ten Persians
dressed as Cossacks.

A led horse with gold trappings.

A riding-horse with gold trappings and English saddle (for
the Consul-General).

One mustaufi (financial secretary).

Two munshis (secretaries).

A naib mir akhor (assistant-master of the horse).

One jilaudar (head-groom).

Two yawars or majors of the army.

Four ardals (orderlies) mounted.

Four ardals (orderlies) on foot.

On the part of the Beglarbegi (Police Magistrate of the Town).
The kalabegi (collector) of the town.
Two kadkhudas (heads of quarters).
The darogha (city magistrate).
A led horse.
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On the part of the Karguzar (Persian Foreign Office Agent).

A naib (assistant) of the Karguzar in full uniform.
One munshi (secretary).

Farashbashi with ten Farashes (messengers).

A led horse.

One jilaudar (head-groom).

The Governor-General of Khurasan and Sistan will provide the
following things at the Bagh-i-Musalla :—

Reception tent (large)

Tent for putting on uniform .
Tent for preparing tea in
Chairs . . . .
Table (large)

Sweetmeats (trays)

Tea .

Coffee . . . . . . . . .
Kalyans (pipes) . . . . . . .-

On the morning of Thursday the 21st September 1893 the
reception party will be present in the reception tent when the

. Consul-General arrives at the small tent made ready for changing
clothes.

After putting on his uniform the Consul-General will proceed
to the reception tent accompanied by the officers of the British
Consulate-General. On his arrival at the reception tent the head
of the reception party and his companions will come out to meet
him and conduct him inside the tent, where the Consul-General will
occupy the central chair, the reception party sitting to his right,
the officers of the British Consulate-General to his left, and
respectable British subjects, present to receive the Consul-General,
towards the door on the right and left.

After partaking of tea, coffee, &c., the procession will start
towards the town in the following order: —

Farashes.

Persian Cossacks.

Led horses.

Consul-General’s own orderlies.

Consul-General (riding on horse with gold trappings).
Head of reception party.

Officers of the British Consulate-General.

Naib Karguzar,

Others.

l l\'n-gn-u--l
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At the entrance to the town a Naib Farash Bashi and some
Farashes of the Karguzar and of the Governor-General will meet
the Consul-General.

After conducting the Consul-General to his house and partaking
of tea, &c., the reception party will depart.

After the Consul-General's arrival at his house, two trays of
sweetmeats will be sent by the Governor-General with a Sartip
(colonel) to inquire after his health ; sweetmeats will also be sent
by the Karguzar.

The next morning the Karguzar, having given notice, will call
upon the Consul-General in full uniform.

The Governor-General’s wazir will also call upon the Consul-
General the same day, in full uniform, after giving notice.

On the third day the Consul-General will call on the Governor-
General in full uniform in the following manner :—

A naib of the Ishik Aghasi (master of ceremonies) will call
for the Consul-General on horseback with

A riding-horse with gold trappings for the Consul-General.

A Yuzbashi with ten Persian Cossacks and four Ardals
(orderlies) at an hour appointed by the Karguzar, and
will conduct the Consul-General to the Ark (citadel).

Some Sarhangs (lieutenant-colonels) Ghulam Peshkhidmats
(mounted orderlies), Tufangd4rs (musketeers), &c., will
be drawn up in a row in front of the reception room.

After partaking of refreshments the Consul-General will depart,
and return the visits of the Governor-General’s wazir and the
Karguzar the same day.

The Governor-General will pay a return visit to the Consul-
General on the third day.

This programme was duly carried through in all
details. We rode in the five miles next morning to the
Bagh-i-Musalla, outside the Pdin Khiaban gate of the
city. First of all appeared Duffadar Shahzadah Taimus
and the five orderlies of the Guides Cavalry on duty with
the consul-general at Mashhad, who came out to escort
me in. After them we were met by the Persian Cavalry,
dressed in red Cossack uniform, and the Farashes in
black, who conducted us into the garden. A Farash in
Persia’ answers to the Chuprassi or Peon in India to a



UVHHSVI LV ALVINSNOD HSLLIMH HHL OL UONVALNA HHL






MASHHAD. 43

certain extent, but he is more than that. He is a lictor,
& messenger, a tent-pitcher, a carpet-spreader, an every-
thing in fact all in one.

At the entrance to the Musalla garden I found Mr.
Thomson, the vice-consul, Khan Bahadur Moula Bakhsh,
the attaché, and the remainder of the British consular
staff awaiting my arrival. The Persian Sartip received
me at the tent inside, where the British-Indian subjects
and pensioners residing in Mashhad had also assembled,
and we all sat down together to tea and sweets and
cigarettes. This over, we mounted our horses again and
rode into the town. After proceeding up the Piin
Khiaban street we wended our way through the lanes
and by-ways at the back of the shrine to the British
Consulate near the citadel at the south-west corner of
the city, where the same tea-drinking was again gone
through, the only difference being that we were the hosts
this time instead of the guests.

I now had time to look around at my new domain. I
found myself in an enclosure some six acres in extent,
surrounded by a high wall. Towards the centre of this
stood the consulate, a large white square building in two
storeys, with a verandah round the lower storey. The
house had only been built the year before, and had never
been occupied. The furniture belonging to the old con-
sulate down in the town had been brought over and put
into it, but that was all. The main gate of the garden
opened out towards the citadel. On the opposite side of
the garden were the dispensary, the consulate office, and
the attaché’s house, with the clerks’ and orderlies’ quarters
on the third side. Behind the office again were the
stables and the vice-consul’s house, so that all was very
compact, and when the doctor’s house was subsequently
built in the remaining corner of the enclosure, the consul-
general and his staff were all brought together; a much
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better arrangement than being scattered about in hired
houses in various parts of the town, as had been the case
before.

Life at Mashhad at first starting was almost entirely
taken up with receiving and returning visits. First of
all to come and call was the Karguzar or Persian Foreign
Office agent. This official takes precedence of all others,
and is independent of the Local Government. All con-
sular business is transacted through him, and all cases in
which foreign subjects are concerned are settled by him.
He is also one of the highest paid of all Persian officials. .
The Karguzar at Mashhad received two hundred tumans
a month. This included everything, that is to say, all
sumptuary and other allowances, as well as the pay of
the office establishment. Out of this sum the Karguzar
had to keep up his staff, which at the time consisted of
his son, as assistant, and a clerk, the latter a permanent
man, who was taken on by one Karguzar after another.
Two hundred tumans represent about £40, or 600
rupees, not a large sum to provide everything on, but
a large sum for Persia, where actual pay by no means
represents the total emoluments received.

On this his official visit the Karguzar appeared in full
uniform with three stars on his breast and a ribbon over
his shoulder. These were the badges of his rank, and
showed his promotion from Sarhang, or lieutenant-colonel
of the second class, to Sarhang of the first class, and
thence to Sartip or colonel of the third class. This was
my first introduction to Persian badges of rank, and I
had to learn the difference between them and decorations
proper. At first sight they looked all the same.

After the Karguzar came the Wazir, who held the
rank of Mustaufi, or revenue accountant of the first class.
Mustaufis in Persia hold a rank of their own, and are of
considerable importance, as they are the only men in the
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country who understand the revenue accounts. These
are kept in the Sidk character, which is a speciality of
its own, and no one but a Mustaufi can interpret accounts
thus written. The system has its advantages at times,
as I heard of one governor who on removal from office
had his accounts made up, and was found to be a debtor
to Government to the extent of 80,000 tumans (£16,000).
He got another Mustaufi to examine his accounts, and
the latter brought him out a creditor to the amount of
40,000 tumans, thus showing to what an extent both the
Government and the governors are at the mercy of their
Mustaufis.

The Muaiyid-ud-Doulah, the governor-general, received
me in the uniform of an Amir-i-Tuman, or general of ten
thousand, with its star and sash. His Highness wore the
jewelled portrait of the Shah round his neck, the highest
decoration in Persia.

My next visitor was the Hakim Bashi, the governor-
general’s doctor, who spoke French. In Persia no man of
any position is known by his name, but by his title, and
to get a title from the Shah is the one thing that gives a
man admission into society. The doctor at the time of
my arrival rejoiced in the title of Muawin-ul-Atibba, or
the Supporter of Physicians, but after his return to
Teheran I heard that he had dropped the physician and
Jjoined the Persian Foreign Office, and had blossomed into
the Muntazam-ul-Mulk, or the Manager of the Country.

After the doctor came the Nusrat-ul-Mulk, the chief of
the Timuris in Persia and the governor of the frontier
districts of Jam, Bakhurz, and Khaf on the Herat border,
in which his tribesmen were mostly located. He was an
old and faithful servant of the Persian Government, and
bad been given his title and the rank of Amir-i-Tuman by
Nasir-ud-din Shah on his first visit to Mashhad in 1867,
for services rendered during the Turkoman raids on the
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Persian frontier. He was subsequently nominated the
deputy to the governor-general and also commander-in-
chief of the forces in Khurasan, but in 1895 the poor old
man had a terrible fall. The then governor-general, the
Asaf-ud-Dowlah, sent for him one day to the citadel, and
there suddenly seized and deported him from Mashhad.
Things might have gone hardly with him had not the
Shah sent for him to Teheran, where he found a safe
retreat.

Another chief of the Timuris whom I subsequently
made the acquaintance of was Mir Asadulla Khan, the
Shaukat-ud-Dowlah. He was the head of some 300
families who emigrated from Herat to Khurasan at the
time of the siege of Herat by the Hissam-us-Sultanah
in 1858. He received his title and the rank of Amir-i-
Tuman from Nasir-ud-din Shah in 1893, and after the
Nusrat-ul-Mulk’s deposition he was appointed governor
of Jam and Zorabad in his place, Bakhurz and Khaf
being given to others.

One of my next visitors was the Malik-ut-Tujar, the
head of the merchants, a fine-looking long-bearded old
man belonging to Ispahan, and a brother of the mint-
master at Teheran. He told me that he had lived for
two years at Constantinople, and another brother of
his had lived and died a silk merchant in France. He
himself was the farmer of the turquoise mines, out of
which he was supposed to have made a fortune. He
had a partner at Marseilles and another at Moscow,
and when I returned his call I met the latter, who had
only just arrived back, in Russian clothes, and had barely
had time to change into Persian ones before I came in.

The head of the Persian telegraphs in Khurasan, a
Kajar prince, also came to call, and so did the chief
of the post-office. This man’s grandfather was a Kizil-
bash of Kabul in the service of Amir Dost Muhammad
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at the time of the first Afghan war, but subsequently
migrated to Mashhad, where his two sons, and afterwards
his grandson, were in turn British agents under the
orders of various British ministers at Teheran. The
grandson entered the Persian service and opened the
first post-office at Mashhad in 1875. For his services
he received from the Shah in 1894 the rank of Sartip
of the first class and the title of Mushir-ul-Wazarah, or
the Adviser of Ministers. I also made the acquaintance
of the Hafiz-us-Siha or the Protector of Health, a Persian
doctor educated in the Teheran College, who held the
post corresponding to our sanitary commissioner. This
gentleman for his services shortly afterwards, during
an outbreak of cholera, got the high-sounding title of
Malik-ul-Hukama, or King of Physicians.

I must not forget to mention either our next-door neigh-
bour at the British Consulate, the Muhandis or Persian
engineer. He held no diploma, but apparently that is not
necessary to become an engineer in Persia. He had been
first of all the surveyor-and afterwards the Persian com-
missioner on duty with General MacLean during the
settlement of the Hashtadan boundary dispute on the
Afghan-Persian border. In 1895 he was sent down to
Sistan, and that killed him. He died soon after his
return, and his son succeeded him as the local engineer.
The son is now a Sarhang or lieutenant-colonel, and will
doubtless rise as his father did, and leave just as big
a case full of stars. He showed me his father’s badges,
commencing with the little star of a Yawar and going
right through the six grades to Sartip of the first class.
A Yawar is commonly translated “Major,” but it does
not correspond to that, and answers more nearly to
our Indian rank of Subadar major, A Yawar has no
rank or position, and in the army he often rises from
the ranks. In civil departments, a man when first
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appointed may be given the rank of Yawar, but officials
in these departments never rise higher than Sartip or
colonel. Any further promotion as a rule is given in
titles. =

The visits that I have mentioned give a fair idea of
Persian official society in a provincial town. From my
colleague, M. Vlassow, the Russian consul-general, and
his wife and family we all received the kindest of
welcomes. Our party at the British Consulate was re-
duced before long by the departure of Napier-to India.
He was able to obtain permission through M. Vlassow to
travel by the Transcaspian Railway from Ashkabad to
~ Uzunada, the then terminus on the Caspian, and the
driver of a small phaeton, with four ponies harnessed
abreast, contracted to drive him the 160 miles from
Mashhad to Ashkabad in four days for 22 tumans, or
£4, 10s. Some hours after his departure a telegram
arrived for him. One of our Turkoman postal sowars
started off in the evening, caught him up 60 miles out
the next morning, delivered the telegram, and was back
again the day after, all on the same horse, and as fresh
as if he had only been out for an ordinary stage. I must
say our Turkoman couriers were excellent men at long-
distance rides. I never knew better. Shortly before
Napier left us, a Russian traveller, Prince Galitzin, arrived
at Mashhad, and we were all invited by M. and Madame
Vlassow to the Russian Consulate to meet him. He had
been travelling through Siberia and showed me his route
on the map—along the Chinese frontier from Tomsk and
down through the Cossack settlements there to Samar-
kand and Bokhara, and thence to Merv and Bala Murghab.
Having seen this, he was going to spend his leave the
next year, he said, in a trip to Canada, to compare that

country with Siberia.

With Prince Galitzin came Captam Lomakin, the
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Pristav or police officer of Russian Sarakhs, who was
kind enough to invite Thomson to pay him a visit at
Sarakhs, and subsequently entertained him most hospi-
tably during his three days’ stay there.

On the 17th November 1893 we had a severe shock
of earthquake in Mashhad, the same that destroyed the
town of Kuchan, 92 miles away. I was sitting at dinner
at the time, and despite the 3}-feet thickness of the walls
of the house everything shook so that I was by no
means sorry to find myself out in the verandah. The
shock was a long one, and when it ceased a roar of
*“ Allah-u-Akbar” came up from the town, and many a
man, I fancy, was calling louder on his God than he had
ever done before.

Shortly after this Major Massy of the 19th Bengal
Lancers, who had been travelling in Persia, arrived at
Mashhad. He had hoped to travel through Trans-
caspia and see something of Russian territory before
returning to India, but permission was refused, so he
then arranged to travel down with me to Sistan, and to
return to India by the Quetta route. Why the Russian
authorities in Central Asia should prohibit British officers
travelling there it is difficult to say. Russians have told
.me the reason was that Russian officers were not per-
mitted to visit India, but that, I assured them, was all a
mistake on their part, a8 not only were Russian officers
free to visit India whenever they liked, but they did not
even require a passport, much less a special permit, to do
so, and they would be warmly welcomed by the British
officers in India whenever they did come. The only
difficulty that I know of is that Russian officers are not
permitted to travel to India through Afghanistan, but
the Amir has been perfectly impartial in that respect.
He does not permit the Englishman to travel through to
Russian territory any more than he permits the Russian

D
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to travel through to India. Russian officers can travel
freely through Persia or else round by sea, and the pity
is that they do not take advantage of their opportunities
to come and see us oftener. As it is the Russian affects
to believe that India is closed to him, and this justifies in
his mind the closing of Transcaspia and Turkistan to
the Britisher. The consequence of this want of inter-
course between Russians and English in Asia is that each
has the most erroneous ideas about the other. Both
sides would learn to appreciate the other more did they
know each other better, and there can be no doubt that
a little more friendly intercourse would greatly tend to
eliminate the suspicion and distrust with which the
Russian frontier officer is now apt to regard everything
done by the English. For Englishmen in Mashhad the
general prohibition to travel by the Transcaspian Rail-
way is specially hard. The difficulties and delay in
getting leave simply to pass through to Europe are often
so great that I have known a man take the twenty days’
march to Astarabad, to embark on the Caspian from there,
rather than wait on the chance of a permit to go to the
Caspian by rail from Ashkabad. I must say, though,
that when permission has once been granted, Englishmen
as a rule are treated with every kindness and civility
throughout Russian territory.
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CHAPTER V.
TURBAT-I-HAIDARI AND TABAS.

Massy's leave was limited, so I determined to start for
Sistan without delay. Our arrangements for the march
were soon complete. In Persia one soon learns to dis-
card the palatial tents used in India. Large Indian tents
are excellent things for standing camps, but they take
many men and much time to pitch, and after many years
of constant travelling I have come to the conclusion that
they are too big for every-day marching. I have often
wondered, indeed, why the Indian Government, in their
desire for economy, have not long ago substituted the
more handy and less expensive Swiss cottage and Kash-
mir tents for the big double-pole and single-pole tents
that are now kept up for the use of district officers when
on tour. Except one Swiss cottage-tent for the mess,
we took nothing with us but small Kashmir and Kabul
tents, and these we found ample for all our wants. How-
ever, after cutting down all impedimenta to the lowest,
we still found that we had by no means a small camp.
First of all we had to get extra Farashes as tent-pitchers,
and these were a mixed lot. We had amongst them a
Herati farrier, a Kandahari tailor, a Turk carpenter, and
a Persian tent-mender; two Hazarahs, men who had
worked on the Bolan Railway in India, and a Kabuli.
Then we had to take with us ten or a dozen Turkoman
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couriers to keep up our postal communication on the
road, and also to help as camp watchmen at night. A
Persian guard of a vakil and four surbazes, correspond-
ing to a naik and four Sepoys of our Indian army,
formed the official escort, but as they had only rusty
. old muskets and neither cartridges nor clothes, they
were not of much use for either protection or show.
The only really armed men were my three Indian
cavalry orderlies. The party consisted of Major Massy,
Dr. Duke, and my Indian assistant, Khan Bahadur
Moula Bakhsh, with a couple of Indian clerks and a
hospital compounder, and a total all told of some
50 men, including servants, couriers, orderlies, guards,
Farashes, grooms, &c., with 24 horses, 30 mules, and
38 camels, and some 18 or 20 muleteers and camel-
men. We all moved out into camp at Turuk on the
11th December 1893.

The last to arrive just as we were starting were the
guard of Persian soldiers, and the poor men when they
did turn up had nothing but their ragged thin blue
cotton suits. There was not such a thing as even a
greatcoat for them in Mashhad, and all the Wazir could
say was that warmn clothing should be made up for them,
and sent after us. To take men on a journey in mid-
winter in such attire was an impossibility; so when the
promised warm clothing did not turn up we did what
best we could on the road to clothe the men ourselves.
I must say that in the end the Wazir was as good as his
word, for some two months afterwards, one day towards
the end of February, in Sistan, just as the hot weather
there was commencing, a sowar turned up with the pro-
mised suits tied up on his horse behind him, having
travelled after us some 500 miles, a fair example of
Persian military efficiency.

From Turuk we went first to Sharifabad, fifteen miles
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along the Teheran high-road, and then struck south into
the country of the Karai, a local tribe who at one time
held a position of considerable importance.

According to the Sani-ud-Dowlah, Amir Khan, chief
of the Karais, was appointed to the charge of Mashhad
under Shah Rukh by Ahmed Khan Durani in 1749,
At the beginning of the present century the tribe came
to great prominence under their chief Ishak Khan, who
in 1818 incited the various tribes to rise in rebellion and
to advance on Mashhad. They were apparently worsted,
however, and Ishak Khan had to beg for forgiveness
in 1816. Both he and his son, Hasan Ali Khan, were
subsequently killed in Mashhad. Muhammad Khan,
another son of Ishak Khan, then took up the rebellion,
and the Karai and Hazarah tribes combined to take
Mashhad. Peace was not restored till the governor
Muhammad Wali Mirza was recalled. In 1827 Halaku
Mirza was appointed governor, and advanced on Turbat-i-
Haidari, but owing to the opposition of the other Khu-
rasani nobles he was unable to do anything against the
Karai, and had to return to Mashhad. Muhammad Khan
became more powerful than ever, and took possession of
the town of Mashhad in 1829, but was at last subdued
by Ahmad Ali Mirza, son of Fateh Ali Shah. He, how-
ever, retained a sort of semi-independent existence, and
never thoroughly acknowledged the authority of the
Kajars. After his death the tribe lost their independ-
ence, and gradually the hereditary chiefship was abolished
and the tribe placed under the Persian governors for the
time being of Turbat-i-Haidari. The Karai now num-
ber about three thousand families. They are said to be
of Turk origin, to have originally been brought from
Turkistan by one of the Mongol kings, and to have been
taken to Syria. Amir Timur (1369-1405) located them
in Fars, whence they were brought to Khurasan by Shah
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Ismail Safavi (1499-1523), and after residing for some
time at Merv and Herat they finally settled at Turbat-i-
Haidari. The tribe now provides one regiment of in-
fantry. Of these half are on duty, and the other half
on furlough, the detachments being relieved every six
months. )

We crossed the pass known as Guddr-i-Muhammad
Mirza at a height of 6540 feet, and camped at Asadabad,
in wet and cold weather. The next day the rain turned
to snow, with a bitter east wind, and we had to push on
to Kaskak to get over the Bedar Pass before the snow
melted. This pass, 6700 feet in height, has a steep
descent on the southern side through soft earth, and the
camels just got over it in time. Next morning, some
three miles from Turbat-i-Haidari, we were met by the
governor, accompanied by Sarhang Ali Muhammad Khan
Karai, his son Sultan Abdur Raza Khan and some thirty
Karai horsemen, and we all rode in together.

The Karai horsemen consist of 150 sowars, armed
mostly with old muzzle-loading guns carried on their
backs, and they serve locally in the Turbat-i-Haidari
district. Their establishment comprises one Sarhang,
one Yawar, three Sultans or Resaldars each in command
of fifty men, one pay clerk, and one writer. Each sowar
receives pay at the rate of 17 tumans (£3, 8s.) in cash
and 2} kharwars or 1625 lbs. of grain a year, which
would not go far towards keeping a man and his horse,
with a wife and family as well, if he had not land to
cultivate in addition.

Turbat-i-Haidari presents a very tumble-down appear-
~ance when first seen. The walls are high, and were
formerly strong, but are now broken in all directions.
In former days the people had all to live within the
walls to save themselves from Turkoman raids. Now
most of them have moved out into the surrounding
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villages, and the present town only occupies a fraction
of what was formerly inhabited, and probably does not
contain more than 500 houses. The ruined citadel
marked the residence of the last chief of the Karais.
Half the town, and certainly all the boys, were assembled
on the top of the ancient rampart to see us come in as
we passed along to the caravansarai at the south-west
corner of the town, where most of our party secured
quarters. I myself was put up in a couple of rooms
close by, and the governor, having escorted us thus far,
took leave for the time, and came back to pay his formal
visit in the afternoon. Haji Muhammad Mirza Kashif,
now the Kashif-us-Sultanah, to give him his last title,
had spent ten years of his life in Paris attached to
the Persian Legation there, and spoke French well.
When I returned his call we rode through the bazar,
which was some 150 yards in length, and of the usual
shape of four streets radiating from a large dome in
the centre, each street being covered with a domed roof
throughout. I was astonished to see so much business
going on. I found the bazar thronged with people, and
showing every sign of commercial activity. Several
Russian Armenians were settled in the town engaged in
the wool trade, which was said to be almost entirely in
their hands, and there was also a large trade in dried
plums and fruits of sorts. On return from my visit I
received the old Karai Sarhang and his son, and in the
evening the governor came to dine with us. It was
here at Turbat-i-Haidari that I first came in for the
ceremony of having a sheep’s throat cut in front of me
on my arrival at the town, a custom which I afterwards
found was almost universal throughout the country.
The sacrifice is supposed to bring good luck, and the
ceremony is apparently gone through on the arrival of
any special visitor. The sheep is thrown down on its
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back on the road, and its throat is cut right in front of
the visitor in whose honour it is sacrificed, and the blood
is allowed to flow in front of him, so that he crosses it
on his way in.

The town of Turbat-i-Haidari derives its name from
the turbat or tomb of a saint named Kutb-ud-din Haidar,
who is buried in a large, domed, red-brick mausoleum.
When visiting this tomb I found several darweshes or
religious mendicants established there, and thinking that
one man looked like an Indian, I addressed him in
Hindustani, and he replied at once. He turned out to
be an old sowar of the 1st Bengal Cavalry, and he said
that he had left Peshawur thirty years ago. The way
these mendicants wander about the world is very curious,
and most of them seem to have no home or home ties
of any description. One can understand Muhammadans
flourishing in Persia, but it has always struck me as
particularly curious how the Hindus made their way
from India to Baku on the Caspian Sea and back again
in former years. The Hindu temple where they kept up
the perpetual fire was still intact when I first visited
Baku in 1881, but the Hindu Fakir was no longer
the custodian there. Petroleum factories had driven
him out, but only just before my arrival. The revenue
of the Turbat-i-Haidari district was said to be 70,000
tumans (£14,000), but this did not include the Khalisa
or crown lands, which were supposed to yield another
10,000 kharwars of grain. The district was at one time
famed for its silk, but disease destroyed the silkworms,
and the industry has been almost put an end to. Tea,
indigo, tin and copper sheets, and some piece goods were
imported from India, but we found that most of the
piece goods in the bazar were Russian, and that all other
things came from Russia.

On leaving we sent all the baggage on ahead; and then
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remained behind ourselves for breakfast, the servants
afterwards packing up the breakfast things on their
mules and riding on with us. The Persian abddri, as it
is called, is an excellent institution in this respect. It
consists of two large leather bags joined together and
made to fit the two sides of a mule or pony, and the
man rides on the top. These bags are fitted up for all
culinary appliances, there being one place for the spit,
another for the samovar or hot-water urn, and a box
containing tea cups and saucers strapped on behind.
The cook and the two peshhhidmats or table servants
who had these abddri mules could always stop and give
us a meal at any time anywhere on the roadside. It
was marvellous the amount of things these bags of theirs
seemed to contain.

We reached the southern limit of the Turbat-i-
Haidari district at Mmndeh, and there the official
deputed by the governor to accompany us took his
leave. Tabas territory, we were told, commenced just
beyond.

At the village of Ghujd we apparently formed quite a
show, as all the people were out to see us pass, the
women, all clad in white, sitting on the tops of the walls,
and the men in the streets below. A little way beyond
we were met by the chief of Tabas’s Nizir and Mirakhor,
with a carriage and pair for our use, but it was as much
as the horses could do to pull the carriage through the
sand as it was, and we allowed it to precede us in state.
Two miles out from Jumand I was met by the chief’s two
grandsons and the deputy-governor with led horses and
some twenty sowars, who escorted us into our camp on
the south of the town, where the old chief sent presents
of sheep and fruit to meet us on our arrival. The weather
was cloudy and cold, and the thermometer went down to
23° F., which is as low as one cares for in tents. The
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next day was Christmas Day, and it opened brighter, and
we had the sun out again. In the morning the chief’s
eldest son, with the Wazir and the chief’s two grandsons,
paid their formal visit, and in the afternoon I paid my
visit to the old chief, accompanied by Massy, Duke, and
Moula Bakhsh. We rode through the village to the
ark, or so-called citadel, a walled enclosure in the centre
of the village, now mostly in ruins, where the chief was
living. The son and grandsons met us outside the door,
and inside we found the old man seated. He was just
able to rise from his chair to receive us, that was all;
but though so weak physically, he showed himself a
clever and well-informed old man in conversation, and
it was a pleasure to talk to him. Duke had already
been to see him in the morning at his special request,
but he was seventy-seven years of age, and his life was
evidently running out fast, and there was little that a
doctor could do.

The old chief asked lots of questions about England
and India, and told us that he had a turquoise mine in
his territory, which he had formerly worked at a profit,
but the turquoise veins spread about through the rock,
and when they had got down some thirty yards they could
get no farther, and the works were abandoned. He was
pressing in his invitations to us to return vii Tabas, pro-
mising us excellent oorial and ibex shooting in the hills
around, but unfortunately I was unable to go that way.

The village of Jumand, the headquarters of the Guna-
bad district, turned out to be a straggling, thinly-inhabited
place, consisting mostly of enclosures of pollard mulberry
trees, though there was comparatively little silk culture
remaining. The total revenue of Tabas was said to be
only 30,000 tumans (£6000) per annum, of which the
districts of Gunabad contributed 10,000, Tun 10,000,
and Tabas and Bijistan 5000 each.
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In the evening the eldest son came to dine with us,
accompanied by the two grandsons and the Wazir. The
second and third sons of the chief we did not see, one
being the deputy-governor of Tabas and the other of
Tun, where they then were.

The Government of Tabas for a long time past had
been in the hands of the chief’s family. Originally of
Arab origin, and said to have been brought to Persia
from Arabia by one of the kings of the Safavian dynasty
(14991-736), they made themselves practically inde-
pendent as the governorship became hereditary under
the title of the Vakil-i-Tabas. Mir Muhammad Khan,
the last Vakil-i-Tabas, is said to have taken Nadir Mirza,
son of Shah Rukh, prisoner in 1776, and also to have
defended Mashhad against the Afghans under Madad
Khan.

He was succeeded by Haji Muhammad Bakir Khan,
the chief who received me and who was granted
the title of Imad-ul-Mulk by Nasir-ud-din Shah during
his first visit to Khurasan in 1867; by which title the
chiefship has ever since been known. I may here add
that I never saw Muhammad Bakir Khan again, as he
died in 1894. He was generally believed to have been
one of the wealthiest chiefs of Khurasan, and to have
possessed large hordes of treasure and jewels, but
whether this was the case or not it is impossible to say.
He did not trust any of his sons, and died without
confiding his secrets to any one or even making a will.
On his death the hidden treasure was either never found
or else it was made away with. What jewels were found
by his sons were at once disposed of to raise cash. The
amount realised being only 29,000 tumans (£5800),
landed property was disposed of to make up the amount
to 40,000 tumans (£8000), which sum was expended
by them in presents to the Shah, the prime minister
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the governor-general, and the Wazir of Khurasan for
permission to retain their father’s government. The
eldest son, Ali Akbar Khan, was accordingly given his
father’s title of Imad-ul-Mulk and the government of
Tabas. The second son, Muhammad Raza Khan, and
the third son, Abul Kasim Khan, were given the titles
of Imad-i-Diwan and Mu'in-i-Diwan respectively, and
were appointed deputy-governors of districts under
their brother. This arrangement, however, only lasted
for a short time. It was not long before the eldest
brother lost the government owing to his own incom-
petence, combined with the intrigues of his brothers and
the enmity of the priests, who denounced him as a Babi.
He was summoned to Teheran, and his next brother,
who managed to give a good present by selling his
landed property, was appointed to succeed him. In
1896 the latter was also dismissed, and the district
of Tabas was then given to the Hashmat-ul-Mulk, the
chief of Sistan, who had married a grand-daughter of the
old Imad-ul-Mulk, and who gave large cash presents
for the appointment. The Hashmat-ul-Mulk, however,
only remained in possession for about a year. By that
time the Imad-ul-Mulk, the eldest brother, who was at
Teheran, had contrived to raise enough money to get
himself reinstated. @The Hashmat-ul-Mulk, however,
was not to be beaten. He outbid the Imad-ul-Mulk
and was reappointed. @ When the Rokn-ud-Dowlah
arrived at Mashhad in 1897 as governor-general of
Khurasan, the Hashmat-ul-Mulk was again dismissed
and the second brother, the Imad-i-Diwan, was re-
appointed governor of Tabas in his place. This appoint-
ment, however, was not confirmed by the Persian
Government, who ordered the eldest brother, the Imad-
ul-Mulk, who by this time had raised sufficient money to
wive a third present, to be again reinstated, the second
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brother’s title being raised from Imad-i-Diwan to Imad-
ul-Mumalik in compensation. Thus the case stood when
I left—what will happen the future alone can tell, but
it looks as if the various brothers will soon be im-
poverished, and that a generation hence their descendants
will probably be found occupying a position little re-
moved from that of peasant.

The road to ruin is a rapid one in Persia, and the case
of Tabas is a typical one of the fall of many of the
hereditary families of Khurasan who were so powerful at
the beginning of the present century.
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CHAPTER VI
KAIN AND BIRJAND,

From Jumand we had a bare stony plain to cross to
Kakhk, a good-sized village lying at the foot of the
Siah Koh hills, that here bound the Gunabad district on
the south. The land was neatly terraced up the slope
to the village, and full of pollard mulberries. We passed
a fine building domed and covered with tiles, the mauso-
leum of Sultan Muhammad, said to have been a brother
of Iman Rasa at Mashhad, and we noticed a number of
mullas and saiyids about. Our camp was besieged all
day by crowds of villagers, who seemed to be quite con-
tent so long as they could sit and look at the unusual
sight of faringhis in their midst. Their only work
seemed to be the manufacture of curious little inlaid
pocket-saws.

At the villages of Khizri and Dasht-i-Piaz the whole
population turned out to see us pass, and we noticed a
decided difference in the people. The men mostly wore
sheepskin hats, and only a few of them turbans. The
women were darker and redder in the face, and wore a
checked scarf instead of the white one we had hitherto
seen. Supplies were plentiful and cheap—so cheap, in
fact, that I was told fowls could be bought at the rate of
three for a kran, or about a penny-halfpenny apiece.

At Nughab we were met by the deputy-governor of
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Kain and a party of eight sowars who had been sent out
by the chief to meet us and escort us into Birjand.

The old town of Kain we found consisted of only a
few poor houses inside the walls, while the bazar, the
musjid, the madrasa, and the greater part of the town
was outside. We rode through the so-called bazar, but
it consisted of nothing but a few dyers’ and bootmakers’
shops. The musjid was the only building that rose above
the rest, and that, according to an inscription on a stone
over the arch, was built in A.D. 1368. .

The silk trade had greatly decreased during the past
ten years, and the growing of saffron had taken its place.
Owing to the high prices prevailing, thé cultivation of
this was increasing year by year. Formerly, I was told,
the price was six or seven miskals for a kran—say four-
pence an ounce, but it had gone up to two and a half
miskals or one Indian tola per kran. The inhabitants
largely consisted of saiyids and mullas, neither of whom
in Persia can be reckoned among the working-classes.
Since the cultivation of opium had been introduced, they
had taken greatly to the smoking of it, and the sad
results were only too visible.

No tax other than the usual land revenue is levied on
opium cultivation in Persia, and the extraordinary cheap-
ness of the drug tends greatly to the excessive use of it.
The custom of smoking opium is becoming universal
amongst men, women, and children, and must have a
baneful effect on the country generally before long. It
is the smoking, not the eating of opium that seems to
have such very bad effects.

The trade of Kain I found to be larger with Bandar
Abbas on the Persian Gulf than with Mashhad and
Sabzawar on the north. Saffron, opium, silk, and skins
were exported to Bandar Abbas; and drugs, iron sheet-
ings, spices, indigo, and tea imported in return. Roughly
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speaking, two-thirds of the trade was said to go to
Bandar Abbas and one-third to Mashhad and Sabza-
war. The sugar was all Russian, and came direct from
Sabzawar.

I ascended the hills to the south of the town to
examine the old ruined fort. The walls were all built
of stone and mortar, and enclosed a space of considerable
extent. We had a climb over the hills to see a second
and similar, but smaller, fort to the east, known as the
Kila-i-Dukhtar. We saw fresh traces of ibex and oorial
on the way, but did not come across any. One curious
thing on the top of the hills was a hole in the ground
from which emanated hot air or steam. The rocks round
the hole were all wet and covered with green moss, which
could not have existed in such a place except in a hot-
house atmosphere. There had been twelve degrees of
frost the night before, and the ice had not thawed in the
shade all day.

Next morning, New Year's Day, 1894, we divided up
into two parties. Massy and Duke went off on a trip to
Durukhsh to see the carpet-weaving there, while I went
on with Moula Bakhsh by the direct road to Birjand.
My first march was to Rim, crossing a pass in the hills
on the way, and then on through more hills to Sehdeh,
which turned out to be the home of the Naib of Kain,
who was escorting us, and who showed me with much
pride the caravansarai he had built, for which good work,
as I told him, I trusted he would get due reward in
heaven. The village contained some 150 houses, and we
had to take supplies with us for the next day at Ghip, a
small place of only 15 houses where nothing was procur-
able. The road gradually ascended through hills the whole
way, and the cold was so great that the ice did not even
melt in the sun the whole day. I was clad in about
half-a-dozen layers of the thickest things I had, and an
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Afghan Barak greatcoat on the top of all, and it was not
a bit too warm.

On the 4th January 1894 I arrived at Birjand.
About two miles from the town I was met by the
Shaukat-ul-Mulk, the chief of Kain, as he is called,
though he lives at Birjand, his father having been the
Amir of Kain. That title, though, has not been continued
to the son by the Persian Government, a fact which of
itself marks one step in the gradual reduction of the
independence of this formerly hereditary chiefship.

With the Shaukat-ul-Mulk were his cousin Haji
Abdul Ali Khan, the Sarhang commanding the Persian
artillery stationed at Birjand, and some thirty mounted
and twenty footmen and led horses, &c. The chief
himself drove out in a carriage and invited me to drive
back with him, but I persuaded him to ride instead, and
we rode in together through the bazar to my camp on
the other side of the town, where he came in and had tea.
The chief had prepared his garden house for us, but this
I declined, as, with so many men and animals, damage, I
thought, might possibly be done to the garden.

Directly the Shaukat-ul-Mulk had left, his brother,
the Hashmat-ul-Mulk, the chief of Sistan, sent to express
his regret at having been prevented by illness from
coming out to meet me, and here I must give some of
the family history. The two brothers, Mir Ismail Khan,
Shaukat-ul-Mulk, chief of Kain and Birjand, and Mir Ali
Akbar Khan, Hashmat-ul-Mulk, chief of Sistan, are now
both about fifty years of age. The founder of the Kain
family, Mir Ali Khan, of the Arab tribe of Khuzaima, is
said to have been forced to emigrate from Arabia to
Khurasan in the time of the Khalifa Harun-ul-Rashid
(786—809), and to have settled in the Kaindt district.
The tribe were wealthy flockowners, and gradually in-

creased in power till Mir Alam Khan, their chief, became
E
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Amir of Kain about the end of the seventeenth century.
His son, Mir Masum Khan, is said to have been in the
service of Nadir Shah (1736-1747), and his grandson,
Mir Alam Khan II, is said to have been the man who
deprived Shah Rukh, the grandson of Nadir Shah, of his
eyesight at Mashhad in 1748. In the disturbances that
‘subsequently ensued Mir Alam Khan II. gained great
power, and even proclaimed himself Amir of Khurasan,
but was forced by Ahmad Shah Abdali to take refuge in
flight. He is said to have been succeeded as Amir of
Kain by Mir Ismail Khan, and the latter by Mir Alam
Khan IIL, the grandfacher of Mir Alam Khan IV,
Hashmat-ul-Mulk, the father of the present brothers,
who was the Amir of Kain so well known in the days of
General Sir Frederick Goldsmid’s mission to Sistan in
1872. He died at Mashhad in 1891, and on his death
the title of Hashmat-ul-Mulk was given to his elder son,
Mir Ali Akbar Khan, with the governorship of Sistan,
and a new title, that of Shaukat-ul-Mulk, was conferred
on the second son, Mir Ismail Khan, with the governor-
ship of Kain. The Persian Government, by thus splitting
the family up, were enabled to reduce its power and also
to drop the title of Amir, and the sons are now simply
designated the Hukmrans or governors of Kain and Sistan
respectively, Once the power of the family has thus
been broken, the probability is that the hereditary govern-
ment in time will go too, and in the end the governors
of Kain will come to be ordinary Persian officials with
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